
 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 General Purposes 

   

Meeting Date: 
 
 Tuesday 25th November, 2014 

   

Time: 
 

 5.45 pm 

   

Venue: 
 
 Room 15 - 17th Floor, City Hall 

   

Members:  Councillors: 

  Melvyn Caplan (Chairman) 
David Boothroyd 
Tim Mitchell 
Robert Davis 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the 
ground floor reception at City Hall from 5.15pm.  If you have 
a disability and require any special assistance please 
contact the Committee Officer (details listed below) in 
advance of the meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Mick Steward, Head of Committee and Governance 
Services. 
 
Tel: 020 7641 3134; Email: msteward@westminster.gov.uk 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Head of Legal & Democratic Services in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.  MEMBERSHIP  

 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services to note any changes 
to the membership  
 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any personal or prejudicial interests in 
matters on this agenda.  
 

 

3.  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To sign the minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2014.  
 

 

4.  POLLING DISTRICT AND POLLING PLACE REVIEW (Pages 5 - 52) 

 Report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services (attached).  
 

 

 
 
Peter Large  
Head of Legal & Democratic Services 
17 November 2014 
 



 
1 

 

 

 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

 
 

MINUTES 

 
 

General Purposes  
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the General Purposes Committee held on Wednesday 5th 
November, 2014, Rooms 3 & 4 - 17th Floor, City Hall, 64 Victoria Street, London, 
SW1P 6QP 
 
Members Present: Councillors Melvyn Caplan (Chairman), David Boothroyd, 
Tim Mitchell and Robert Davis 
 
 
 
1 MEMBERSHIP 
 
1.1 There were no changes to the membership. 
 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
2.1 There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 
3 MINUTES 
 
3.1 The Chairman, with the consent of the Members present, signed the minutes 

of the  meeting held on 30 April 2014 as a true and correct record of the 
proceedings. 

 
4 POLLING DISTRICT AND POLLING PLACE REVIEW 
 
4.1 Martin Pyroyiannos introduced the report and explained that the Electoral 

Registration and Administration Act 2013 introduced a change to the timing of 
compulsory reviews of parliamentary polling districts and polling places.  He 
also explained the principles underlying the approach to establishing polling 
districts and polling places. 

 
4.2 Councillor David Boothroyd thanked officers for the work undertaken in 

resolving long standing anomalies in Westbourne Ward which he supported 
as outlined in recommendations 2.1 (c) and (d) and 2.2.  Councillor Boothroyd 
drew attention to the view of Councillor Williams who did not support the 
proposed change to CHA as set out in recommendation 2.1 (a). 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

4.3 Councillor Robert Davis asked officers also keep an eye on changes of room 
within a venue, which often cause confusion.  He also asked that following the 
General Election officers review the polling districts in Lancaster Gate ward as 
an imbalance had occurred in recent years. 

 
4.4 Councillor Tim Mitchell referred to Polling District SJB which had suffered 

from camera intrusion.  Mr Pyroyiannos advised that he had been aware of 
the issue but no suitable alternative venues were available.  It was accepted 
that the solution was probably available with a revised internal layout of the 
Polling Station. 

 
4.5 Councillor Melvyn Caplan asked that further work be undertaken to review 

polling districts in Hyde Park ward, Knightsbridge and Belgravia Ward and 
Maida Vale ward to review what appeared to be an imbalance.  He asked that 
this review be undertaken urgently and reported back to a special meeting to 
be held before the end of November to allow the register to be updated and 
reflect any changes.  The Committee would also defer a decision on the 
location of polling place for CHA. 

 
4.6 Mr Pyroyiannos advised that undertaking these further reviews would be 

challenging and would, in view of the need to publish the register on 1 
December . 

 
4.7 Resolved: 
 

(a)  That approval be given to the following proposed changes in polling 
 places for the reasons given (to be effective from the publication of the 
 new electoral register on 1 December 2014): 

 
(i) MVA (Maida Vale) from the Maida Centre, 221 Lanark Road to 

St George’s School, Lanark Road (The Maida Centre is being 
redeveloped and cannot be used as a polling place at the next 
General Election.  Although we have sought to move away from 
using schools, St George’s School is the best replacement for 
the Maida Centre and has been used before as a polling place). 

 
(ii) WBA (Westbourne) arising out of the polling district boundary 

changes detailed below, from Warwick Community Centre, 300 
Harrow Road to Our Lady of Lourdes & St Vincent de Paul 
Church  Hall, 337 Harrow Road (with officers looking again at 
the Westminster Adult Education Centre in Amberley Road when 
building works are completed there in early 2015). 

 
(iii) WBC (Westbourne) arising out of the polling district boundary 

changes detailed below, from Stowe Centre, 258 Harrow Road 
to Warwick Community Centre, 300 Harrow Road. 

 
(b) That a small change to the polling district boundary between the WBA 

and WBC polling districts in Westbourne Ward be agreed in order that 
there is a more even distribution of registered electors across each of 
the three polling districts within the ward and in order that voters on the 

Page 2



 
3 

 

Warwick and Brindley Estates vote at the same polling place.  The 
change recommended is shown on a map as Appendix E of the report 
and in terms of properties/electors affected as Appendix E plus 
addendum and unites the whole of the Warwick and Brindley Estates 
with the Grand Union Canal as the northern boundary. 

 
(b)  That a decision on the polling place for CHA be deferred to a special 

 meeting to be held before the end of November. 
 
(c)  That officers conduct a further review of polling districts in Hyde Park, 

 Knightsbridge and Belgravia and Maida Vale wards and for this to also 
 be reported to the special meeting to be held before the end of 
 November. 

 
5 OPENNESS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT BODIES REGULATIONS 2014 

(SEE REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES) 
 
 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the revised wording of Standing Order 18 (Disorder) detailed in 
 paragraph 3.7 of the report be recommended to the full Council for 
adoption. 

 
(b) That the threshold of £500,000 at which officers must give notice of 

decisions to award a contract or incur expenditure as detailed in 
paragraph 3.10 of the report be agreed. 

 
(c) That the action taken by officers to date to ensure the City Council is 

fully compliant with the 2014 Regulations and advises on any further 
action to be taken be noted. 

 
6 SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS (SEE REPORT OF THE HEAD OF LEGAL 

AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES) 
 
6.1 The Committee were advised that the revised scheme reflected the re-

organisation agreed by the Cabinet on 21 July 2014.  No new obligations had 
been included. 

 
6.2 As it had been some time since the last detailed review of delegations and 

related documents had taken place it was agreed that this should be 
undertaken and the outcome reported to the next meeting. 

 
 Resolved: 
 

(a)  That the Scheme of Delegations in respect of non-executive functions 
 attached as Appendix 1 of the report be recommended to the Council 
 for approval. 

 
(b)  That it be noted that the Leader of the Council will be asked to approve 

 the Scheme of Delegations in respect of executive functions. 
 

Page 3



 
4 

 

7 CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES: SUPERANNUATION COMMITTEE TERMS 
OF REFERENCE (SEE REPORT OF THE CITY TREASURER) 

 
7.1 Resolved: 
 
 That the Council be recommended that the revised Terms of Reference as 
 attached in Appendix A be agreed and that the Superannuation Committee be 
 renamed the  Pension Fund Committee. 
 
8 PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 2015-16 (SEE REPORT OF THE HEAD OF 

LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES) 
 
 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the Council be recommended to approve the dates of full Council 
meetings as follows:  20 May 2015 (Annual), 8 July 2015, 11 November 
2015, 20 January 2016, 2 March 2016, 27 April 2016, 18 May 2016 
(Annual). 

 
(b) That the programme of other formal meetings set out in Appendix A be 

approved. 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 6.38 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  

 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

Special General Purposes 
Committee 
 
 

Date: 25 November 2014 
 

Classification: For General Release 
 

Title: Outstanding issues arising out of the Review of 
Polling Districts and Polling Places report at the 
General Purposes Committee on 5 November 
2014 
 

Report of: Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

Wards Involved: All 
 

Policy Context: Management of the Council 
 

Financial Summary:  The cost of using polling places is met from the 
Government grant in respect of UK and European 
Parliamentary elections and referendums, from 
the GLA in respect of London Mayor and GLA 
elections and by the City Council for its own 
elections 
 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Martin Pyroyiannos 
Tel: 020 7641 2732 
Email: mpyroyiannos@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1     The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 requires that a 
compulsory review of polling districts and polling places be completed by 31 
January 2015.  The previous City of Westminster review took place in 2011. 
Review proposals and recommendations were presented at the General 
Purposes Committee on 5 November 2014. The following matters remained 
outstanding and were referred to this General Purposes Special Committee. 

 a)  Officers were asked to carry out some further investigation in respect of 
the recommendation made in the 5 November Committee Report to 
change the CHA ( Churchill ) polling place from Churchill Gardens 
Youth Club, Churchill Gardens Estate to Churchill Gardens Residents 
Hall, Churchill Gardens Estate on the basis that the Residents Hall is 
more accessible than the Youth Club as it is closer to main roads and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 

bus stops. Churchill Ward Councillors were notified on 2 October 2014 
that there was a proposal in place to move from the Youth Club to the 
Residents Hall. Churchill Ward Councillors made representation on 4 
November 2014 that they preferred that the polling place remain at the 
Youth Club on the basis that ‘residents know the location of the Youth 
Club as the polling station and this is very well established within the 
area. It also offers greater disabled access as it is all on one level with 
ramp access’. Ward Councillors were contacted on the day following 
the General Purposes Committee on 5 November to ask whether they 
wished to make further representation.  To-date no further 
representation has been made. 

 b)  Officers were asked to investigate whether the polling district 
boundaries within three wards, Maida Vale, Hyde Park, and 
Knightsbridge and Belgravia, can be redrawn to provide better provision 
for voters and to effect a more even distribution of voters across 
individual polling districts. Maida Vale and Hyde Park wards each have 
two polling districts and Knightsbridge and Belgravia has three polling 
districts. The options for change are presented as maps in Appendix   
A, B, and C. Appendix D shows the possible polling places for the 
polling districts affected.  Appendix E, F, G show the electorates and 
street changes to be made. Appendix H, I, J show the current polling 
district boundaries of the three wards under review.     

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the polling place for CHA (Churchill ) place be re-designated from  

Churchill Gardens Youth Club, Churchill Gardens Estate, to Churchill Gardens 
Residents Hall, Churchill Gardens Estate for the reasons set out in the 5 
November Committee Report and in this Report 

 
2.2 That the Committee consider the options for change presented in respect of 

the polling district boundaries of the Hyde Park, Maida Vale and Knightsbridge 
and Belgravia wards. That the polling district boundaries for Churchill and 
Lancaster Gate wards also be looked into.  

 
3. Background Information 

3.1     In respect of the re-designation of the CHA (Churchill) polling place from 
Churchill Gardens Youth Club to Churchill Gardens Residents Hall. Officers 
are of the opinion that the Residents Hall provides a better provision for voters 
across the polling district as a whole. There is a real concern that voters, 
especially elderly or disabled voters, not living on the estate, are dissuaded 
from voting because of the distance they need to travel from main roads and 
bus stops to the Youth Club. Officers were advised that there are no parking 
facilities for disabled voters on the estate, other than for those disabled voters 
living on the estate. The Presiding Officer at the Youth Club on 22 May 2014 
noted that 13 voters in wheelchairs voted at the polling place- although we do 
not know how many of those voters live on the estate. 8 voters also 
complained about signage and the maps provided to find the Youth Club- this 

Page 6



 

 

is a high number of such complaints as compared to complaints of this type 
received at other polling places. Although the Youth Club is well known by 
voters it is difficult to see how those voters living on the estate will be 
inconvenienced or confused by the change proposed and one would have 
thought that those voters living elsewhere in the CHA polling district will, in 
large part, welcome the change proposed. Signage will be placed at the Youth 
Club to alert voters to the change in polling place.  

3.2   In respect of the options presented for change to polling district boundaries 
within Hyde Park, Knightsbridge and Belgravia and Maida Vale wards.            
In the period between the first Committee meeting on 5 November and this 
report, officers have in large part arrived at workable options for change. There 
are however some issues still outstanding and some process steps which 
need to be taken which make effecting any changes before publication of the 
register on 1 December extremely problematic and open to risk. In Hyde Park 
ward a new polling place will need to be identified for a newly created HPC 
polling district. It is expected that new developments in this area will provide a 
solution. In Knightsbridge and Belgravia officers will need to carry out some 
further work on boundary definition and seek to find out whether there are 
better polling places than those currently earmarked as fitting into any newly 
created polling districts. In Maida Vale there will need to be some further work 
on boundary definition and clarity on which polling places should be 
designated ( the preferred option for a newly created MVC polling district is the 
Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue in Lauderdale Road. Discussions with 
the Synagogue are ongoing. Although the map attached as Appendix C shows 
the Paddington Sports Club,  Castellain Road, as being within an MVB polling 
district- this is the street path access point- the polling place itself being within 
a newly created as presented MVC polling district. The Paddington Sports 
Club presents  an alternative to the Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue as an 
MVC polling place but the Synagogue is much preferred if elders agree to its 
use and if it is found to meet all the requirements of good polling place 
provision) 

 
           Publication of the register of electors can only be delayed beyond 1 December 

2014 owing to an election taking place during the canvass period. This is the 
only reason permitted by law for a delay.  If any further work on polling districts 
was required post 1 December the register would need to be re-published at 
which point the review would be complete, The Electoral Registration Act 2013 
requires the current round of compulsory reviews to be complete by 31 
January 2015. With the general election not far off, the Electoral Commission 
guidance is that Electoral Registration Officers need to have their registers 
finalised as early as possible – for a variety of reasons but also including the 
need to distribute those registers to the political parties.  Political parties will 
want registers as early as possible for their work on the election. It is not 
advised that poll numbers issued to electors upon register publication are 
subsequently changed- for reasons of polling district change and register re-
publication. 

 
 

Page 7



 

 

3.3    In respect of newly designated polling places arising out of any changes made 
to polling districts (see Appendix D). Designation of polling places is the 
responsibility of the Council and this must be done as part of the review. Were 
the polling districts to change, officers will not have been able to carry out a 
robust and proper exercise to determine which polling places within the Hyde 
Park, Knightsbridge and Belgravia and Maida Vale Wards can and should be 
used.  Where potential polling places have been identified, officers have found 
disadvantages to the use of some of them or been met with requests for further 
discussion on the part of some property owners. A polling place is yet to be 
identified for a new HPC polling district. Section 18B(4)(e) of the Representation 
of the People Act 1983 states that ‘the polling place must be small enough to 
indicate to electors in different parts of the district how they will be able to reach 
the polling station’. The Electoral Commission’s view is that polling places 
should be defined more specifically than simply the polling district. We cannot 
therefore designate the entire polling district as the polling place and then look 
to find a polling place at a later stage. 

 
3.4   Voters will need to be notified of any changes made to polling districts and 

polling places. At the date of this Report only a part of the electorate in 
Westbourne Ward will need to be written to. There is a risk that changes made 
to polling districts on a larger scale to that made in Westbourne Ward will result 
in confusion for voters- especially at a time when Individual Electoral 
Registration and general election write-outs are taking place. 

 
 
4. Other Implications 

 These remain as set out in the report to the General Purposes Committee on 
 5 November, listed as a background document. 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact: 
Martin Pyroyiannos on 020 7641 2732 

Email:mpyroyiannos@westminster.gov.uk 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

1. General Purposes Committee Report 5 November 2014 
2. Appendix A re Hyde Park revised polling district boundaries 
3. Appendix B  re Knightsbridge and Belgravia revised polling district boundaries 
4. Appendix C   re Maida Vale revised polling district boundaries 
5. Appendix D   Polling Places for reconstituted polling districts 
6. Appendix E- Hyde Park –electorate and street changes 
7. Appendix F- Knightsbridge and Belgravia- electorate and street changes 
8. Appendix G- Maida Vale- electorate and street changes 
9. Appendix H- Hyde Park- current boundaries 
10. Appendix I- Knightsbridge and Belgravia- current boundaries 
11. Appendix J- Maida Vale- current boundaries.  

 

Page 8



  
 

 

Committee Report 

 

 
Date:   
 

5 November 2014 
 

Classification:  
 

For General Release 
 

Title:  Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 
 

Report of:  Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

Financial Summary:  
  
Report Author and Contact 
Details:  

Martin Pyroyiannos 
Tel: 020 7641 2732 
Email: mpyroyiannos@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1  The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 introduced a change to 

the timing of compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts and 
polling places. The previous City of Westminster review took place in 2011. 
The 2013 Act requires that a compulsory review be completed by 31 January 
2015.  

1.2  Subsequent compulsory reviews must be started and completed within the 
period of 16 months that starts on 1 October of every fifth year after 1 October 
2013. 

1.3     A public consultation was commenced on 1 September inviting views on the 
current pattern of polling districts and polling places and the attached report 
addresses the issues raised in the responses made and sets out 
recommendations for change by officers. 

 
1.4     The principles underlying the approach to establishing polling districts and 

polling places in the review have been: 
 

a) To retain the current network of polling places and polling districts. As 
far as possible to minimise disruption to voters; 

 
b) To try and identify new polling places in areas where the existing 

provision is inadequate; 
 
c) To aim, but only as a guideline, to have an average of three polling 

places per ward wherever practicable; 
 

Page 9



 

d)  To ensure, as far as practicable, that any new polling places are 
accessible to people with disabilities; 

 
e) To try and minimise disruption to schools. 

 
1.5      The initial Returning Officer’s proposals sought views on whether any polling 

places,  those for CHB, KBC, LGA, MHA, SJB, TBC, WAA, WEB polling 
districts being most prominent, should be re-designated and whether any 
polling districts should be changed or new polling districts created. 

           
2.  Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee approve the following proposed changes in polling places  

for the reasons given (to be effective from the publication of the new electoral 
register on 1 December 2014): 

 
a)  CHA( Churchill) from Churchill Gardens Youth Club, Churchill Gardens 

Estate to Churchill Gardens Residents Hall, Churchill Gardens Estate         
(the Residents Hall is more accessible than the Youth Club as it is 
closer to main roads and bus stops.) 

 
b)  MVA ( Maida Vale )  from the  Maida Centre, 221 Lanark Road  to St 

George’s School, Lanark Road (The Maida Centre is being 
redeveloped and cannot be used as a polling place at the next General 
Election. Although we have sought to move away from using schools, 
St George’s School is the best replacement for the Maida Centre and 
has been used before as a polling place). 

  
c)  WBA ( Westbourne) arising out of the polling district boundary changes 

detailed below, from Warwick Community Centre, 300 Harrow Road to 
Our Lady of Lourdes & St Vincent de Paul Church Hall,337 Harrow 
Road ( with officers looking again at the Westminster Adult Education 
Centre in Amberley Road when building works are completed there in 
early 2015). 

 
d)  WBC ( Westbourne) arising out of the polling district boundary changes 

detailed below, from Stowe Centre, 258 Harrow Road to Warwick 
Community Centre, 300 Harrow Road. 

 
2.2     That the Committee agree to a small change being made to the polling district 

boundary between the WBA and WBC polling districts in Westbourne Ward in 
order that there is a more even distribution of registered electors across each 
of the three polling districts within the ward and in order  that voters on the 
Warwick and Brindley Estates vote at the same polling place. The change 
recommended is shown on a map as  Appendix E, and in terms of properties/ 
electors affected as Appendix E plus addendum, and unites the whole of the 
Warwick and Brindley Estates with the Grand Union Canal as the northern 
boundary.  

 

Page 10



 

2.3      That the Committee note that the Chief Executive has delegated powers to 
designate alternative polling places in the event of any polling place not being 
available at any election or better provision being identified , following 
consultation with the Party Whips and respective ward councillors. 

 
3.        Background 
 
3.1 This paper sets out the current pattern of polling districts and polling places 

within the City of Westminster and details officer findings on all the 
suggestions received at consultation and presents officer recommendations 
for change. 

 
3.2 The current pattern of electoral wards within Westminster was determined by 

the Government on the recommendation of the (then) Local Government 
Commission.   

 
3.3 The existing Westminster ward boundaries are set and are not part of this 

review. 
 
3.4   The two parliamentary constituencies covering the City of Westminster are 

made up of the following City of Westminster wards: 

(a) Cities of London and Westminster constituency: 
 

Bryanston & Dorset Square 
Churchill 
Hyde Park 
Knightsbridge & Belgravia 
Marylebone High Street 
St James’s 
Tachbrook 
Vincent Square 
Warwick 
West End 
and the City of London 
 

(b)  Westminster North constituency: 
 

Abbey Road 
Bayswater 
Church Street 
Harrow Road 
Lancaster Gate 
Little Venice 
Maida Vale 
Queen’s Park 
Regent’s Park 
Westbourne 
 
 

Page 11



 

3.5 Attached is a map, Appendix A, showing the existing ward boundaries. This 
map shows the polling district boundaries and polling places used at the 
combined elections which took place on 22 May 2014. The polling places used 
at the elections on 22 May 2014 are the currently designated polling places 
and formed the starting point for this review.  

 
3.6 A ward is the basic building block on which parliamentary constituencies are 

put together. The wards, polling districts and polling places are the same in 
Westminster for both local government and parliamentary elections  

 
3.7 Attached as Appendix B is an alphabetical listing by ward of the current polling 

places and their electorates as at 1 July 2014.  The number of polling stations 
at each polling place will be determined by the Returning Officer in advance of 
any election and will vary according to the size of the eligible electorate at that 
election and the likely turnout. A “polling station” is a desk in the polling place/ 
building at which ballot papers are issued – there may be up to 3 such 
“stations” or desks in a polling place. Polling districts such as HPB have 
relatively high electorates and may be assigned more polling stations than 
polling places with smaller electorates such as KBA and WEC, 

 
3.8 The map and Appendix also identify those polling places that currently have 

inadequate disability access ( door chimes are used at all polling places where 
there is inadequate disability access). 

 
3.9 The current pattern of polling district boundaries within wards and the location 

of polling places was comprehensively reviewed during 2000 and 2001 and 
again in 2007 and 2011. This new pattern first came into effect at the City 
Council elections in May 2002. 

 
3.10 The opportunity has been taken since May 2002 to change polling places 

where more convenient or better polling places have been identified or where 
a change had to be made because the existing polling place was no longer 
available for whatever reason. 

 
3.11 The principles underlying the City Council’s approach to polling districts and 

polling places in the 2000, 2001, 2007 and 2011 reviews were: 
 

a) To retain the current network of polling places and polling districts. As 
far as possible to minimise disruption to voters; 

 
b) To try and identify new polling places in areas where the existing 

provision is inadequate; 
 
c) To aim, but only as a guideline, to have an average of three polling 

places per ward wherever practicable; 
 
d)  To ensure, as far as practicable, that any new polling places are 

accessible to people with disabilities; 
 
e) To try and minimise disruption to schools. 

Page 12



 

3.12 The pattern of provision will never be ideal or suit all electors, but the current 
boundaries and places were drawn to try and maximise convenience to 
electors by using the best locations available.  

 
3.13 Council officers continue to look for possible alternative locations, particularly 

where disability access is currently inadequate or the existing polling place 
location could be improved.  The number of inaccessible polling places has 
gradually been declining as building owners have sought to improve access or 
alternative places are used instead.  

 
3.14    At the combined elections on 22 May 2014 all Senior Presiding Officers at 

polling places were required to complete and return a polling place review 
evaluation of their polling place - attached as Appendix C. This is a document 
produced by the Electoral Commission which is designed to identify any 
issues pertaining to a polling place. Senior Presiding Officers were also 
required to complete and return a log book- attached as Appendix D. The log 
book included specific questions pertaining to a polling place review i.e. 
whether any voters had difficulty in finding a polling place; were unhappy 
about the location of a polling place; or were unhappy with the access to their 
polling place. The two documents provided a wealth of information for the 
review and provided the means by which a detailed analysis could be made 
before the Returning Officer’s initial proposals were presented. 

 
3.15 Elections happen very infrequently and sometimes with very little notice, so 

the City Council is appreciative of the co-operation of polling places in 
providing their buildings for the day – often at considerable inconvenience 
including to parents of school children – so that local electors have a 
convenient place where they can go and vote.  

 
3.16    Consultation proposals were issued by the Returning Officer on 1 September 

2014 and comments on the current provision were invited. All suggestions 
made are addressed in this report.  

 
2.   POSSIBLE CHANGES 
 
1.  At the start of this review there was no proposal to look into the creation of an 

additional polling district or polling place within any of the wards. The 
combined elections held on 22 May 2014 did not appear to present any 
significant issues which require that changes of this type be made in the run-
up to the General Election on 7 May 2015.It may be the case that following 
the completion of the transition phase to Individual Electoral Registration 
(IER) ( the Government has legislated for existing electors who have not been 
matched to Department for Work and Pensions lists or other locally held 
records- and who have not made an IER application- to be finally deleted 
from the register of electors in either December 2015 or December 2016), 
that there may be a need to carry out a further more detailed analysis. At the 
polling district and polling place review in 2011 there was an initial proposal to 
look into the creation of an additional polling district/ place in the north part of 
Hyde Park ward as further residential developments had been completed post 
the previous 2007 review. Similarly in 2011 the possibility of the creation of an 

Page 13



 

additional polling district and polling place within the south-east part of Maida 
Vale ward was looked into.  There was also a further proposal in 2011 to 
reconfigure the polling districts within Westbourne ward and create a fourth 
polling district.  These proposals were not accepted by the General Purposes 
Committee at that time on the basis that the proposals could result in 
confusion and disruption to voters, may result in polling places having to be 
used which were not as suitable as those currently used, and would possibly 
also transfer the issue of having higher numbers of voters in one polling 
district to another polling district.  In terms of Westbourne ward any issues 
appeared to arise out of the shape of the ward and the review could not make 
any changes to ward boundaries.  At this review a suggestion was received 
that the boundary between  the WBA and WBC polling districts be changed, 
for reasons detailed in other parts of this Report- but that the number of 
polling districts within the ward remain as three.   

.  
2. In terms of changes of polling place from those polling places used at the 22 

May 2014 elections it was proposed at the start of the review, in the Returning 
Officer’s initial proposals,  that concerted efforts be made to find  an 
alternative polling place in respect of  SJB polling place ( Charing Cross 
Library) which has no disabled access and where  on 22 May 2014 the Chief 
Presiding Officer raised concerns in respect of voters not having exclusive 
access to the library. It was however noted that although the polling place is 
on the margin of the polling district, it is nevertheless close to the main 
concentration of electors in the district, and so in this respect is well situated.  
 

3. It was proposed that efforts be made to find alternative polling places in 
respect of the following polling districts. Matters for consideration are as 
shown; 
 

4. CHB (St Barnabas School). Disability access into the school is currently 
 limited. 

 
5. KBC (St Peter’s Church Hall). The Church Hall is on the very edge of the 

polling district so not ideally geographically located. It is however a well-known 
building. ( St Peter’s School in Ebury Street was used at elections before the 
2011 referendum) 
 

6. LGA (St Mathew’s Church ), LGB (St James & St  John Primary School – 
previously St James & St Michael’s School). The two polling places have 
inadequate disability access, but are currently the best locations that have 
been identified and are well-known buildings in the area. 
 

7. MHA (St Vincent’s School),  MHB (Central Synagogue). St Vincent’s School  
is on the edge and not central to the polling district. The Central Synagogue 
has steps and so has no disability access. Both polling places are well-known 
buildings in the area. 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

8. TBC ( Lillington Gardens Estate Hall). Although the Hall is well known and 
centrally located in terms of the main body of voters, there were problems with 
signage at the 22 May 2014 elections in terms of those electors who were 
unfamiliar with its location. 
 

9. WAA (Holy Apostles Church Hall) and WAC (Victoria Library) are on the edge 
of their polling districts but are currently the best available locations within the 
districts and are well- known buildings in the area. 
 

10.      WEB polling place ( Dance Works) has no disabled access. 
 

11. Officers have used the opportunity of this review to try and identify better 
alternative locations and to deal with those instances, where for building works 
or other reasons, a re-designation of polling place is required. Any new polling 
places will need to be booked in good time to be used at the General Election 
on 7 May 2015. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals sought to keep any 
changes   to a minimum. Over the 13 years that the current map of electoral 
wards has been in place voters have become used to the current and well-
established network of polling places and polling districts. The overarching 
objective is therefore, wherever possible, to minimise confusion and disruption 
for voters in terms of their polling place provision, while ensuring, as far as 
practicable, that any new polling places are accessible to people with 
disabilities. 

 
 A brief rationale explaining the current provision, initial consultation proposals 

and comments and suggestions made at consultation, in each ward (listed 
alphabetically) is set out below: 
 

 1.   Abbey Road Ward 
 

1. The most northerly of Westminster’s wards is divided into three separate 
polling districts by two major roads running north/south. The three districts 
follow a historic pattern and so most long-standing electors in the ward are 
voting where they have voted for many years.  
 

2. It has been suggested at previous polling district and polling place reviews that 
the ARA (St Mark’s Church Hall) and ARB (St John’s Wood Synagogue) 
polling districts could be realigned on an east/west axis. Although comments 
were invited on this proposal and any suggestions of a possible alternative 
polling place in the north of the ward were welcomed it is not proposed to 
make any changes of this type. 
  

3. The third polling place for the ward is in the ARC Polling district (St John’s 
Wood Library). It is geographically well located next to the St John’s Wood 
underground station, but is small and cramped. Despite the drawback of its 
size, the location is good and it currently appears to be the best available 
option.  

 
 
 

Page 15



 

4. At consultation. General comments were received that it did not seem sensible 
to change or merge anything in any way in advance of the General Election 
next year on the basis that this would be confusing for the voters, all of whom 
know exactly where to go in order to cast their votes.  
 
2.  Bayswater 

 
5. The polling place for the BWA polling district is a well-known local landmark 

(Small Hall, Porchester Centre) and is geographically central. The polling 
place for the BWB polling district was changed prior to the elections on 22 
May 2014. It moved from Bayswater Families Centre in Newton Road to St 
Paul’s Bayswater United Reformed Church in Newton Road. ( Bayswater 
Families Centre had undergone building works and no longer had a space 
suitable for voting). Fortunately the new polling place is next door to the 
previously used polling place. The polling place for the BWC polling place ( St 
Stephen’s School in Westbourne Park Road) is well established and has 
disabled access. 

  
6. At consultation. A suggestion was received which supported the principle of 

not using schools, wherever this was possible, and also suggested that 
officers should look to minimise disruption caused by elections- perhaps by 
reconfiguring which rooms within a school are used. Officers will seek to apply 
this extension to the schools principle when considering which polling places 
should be used at future elections. In the context of the Bayswater ward 
review and the use of St Stephen’s School in BWC polling district, officer 
notes indicated that it would be very difficult to set up any arrangement by 
which some school classes could take place on polling day due to issues 
surrounding the entrance to the building.  

 
7. A suggestion was also received that in terms of BWA  polling district the 

polling place could be moved from the Small Porchester Hall in Porchester 
Road to Westbourne Baptist Church Hall on the corner of Westbourne Park 
Villas and Porchester Road (entrance from Porchester Road). The existing 
place for the BWA polling district is a well-known local landmark, is 
geographically central,   and no issues were reported from its previous use as 
a polling place. Officers visited the church and found that its hall is just 2 
minutes walk from Small Porchester Hall. The Church Hall is a large hall with 
all the facilities needed and has good disabled access. There is no strong 
reason as to why the polling place should be changed from Small Porchester 
Hall to the Church Hall- but it is good to have the Chuch Hall in reserve should 
an issue be identified with Small Porchester Hall. 

 
8. Officers looked for alternatives in BWC polling district to St Stephen’s School. 

Officers visited the Brunel Family Centre on the Brunel Estate, Westbourne 
Park Road, and noted that the Centre did not meet the requirements for use 
as a polling place. A social worker at the Brunel Family Centre advised that 
the Centre was made up of small rooms used for counselling purposes-and 
that there were no rooms large enough for a polling place.  A visit to St Mary 
of the Angels Catholic Church in Moorhouse Road found that there was a 
church studio and a church hall. There were however disability access issues. 

Page 16



 

The studio ( which is classroom size) is on the mezzanine floor and has 10 
steps. The church hall which is on the first floor has 18 steps. 

 
3.  Bryanston & Dorset Square 
 

9. The BDA (West London Synagogue) and BDB (Seymour Leisure Centre) 
polling districts have well located polling places. At the polling district and 
polling place review in 2011 the polling place at BDC was moved from St 
Paul’s Church in Rossmore Road to St Cyprian’s Church in Glentworth Street 
( to provide an improved location closer to the main concentration of residents.  

 
10. Representation was made in 2011 that St Paul’s Church was well away from 

the main concentration of residents and that elderly residents of Dorset 
Square and  Glentworth Street had to take the bus to get to their polling place. 
St Cyprian’s Church in Glentworth Street therefore became the designated 
polling place for BDC polling district.) 

 
            At consultation. No suggestions were received and the Returning Officer’s 

initial proposals did not include any proposals for change. 
 

4.  Church Street 
 
11. The CSA (Gateway Academy- previously Gateway Primary School) is a well -

established polling place. The CSB polling place   was moved, prior to the 
2011 Referendum on the UK Parliament voting system, from Christ Church 
Bentinck School to Church Street Library. Church Street Library is located on 
the boundary of CSA and CSB and it has been suggested at previous reviews 
that it can serve both CSA and CSB polling districts. The proposal is that CSA 
(Gateway Academy) and CSB ( Church Street Library) be retained as polling 
places for each of the two districts  in order to minimise confusion for voters. 
The area within Church Street Library which can readily be used as a polling 
place is not large enough to house two polling stations and certainly not two 
polling districts. The Greenside Community Centre is a relatively new polling 
place and well located within the CSC polling district.  

 
           At consultation. No suggestions were received and the Returning Officer’s 

initial proposals did not include any proposals for change. 
 
5.  Churchill 

 
12. The ward is geographically bisected by the main railway line into Victoria 

Station, which also forms the polling district boundary.  
 

13. All electors in polling district CHA to the east vote in the Churchill Gardens 
Youth Club and to the west in CHB polling district at St Barnabas School. 
Disability access into the school is currently limited. 

 
14. At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included a proposal to 

look at the CHB polling district provision on the basis of St Barnabas School 
not providing disabled access. A suggestion was received that in respect of 

Page 17



 

CHA polling district, Churchill Gardens Residents Hall be used instead of 
Churchill Gardens Youth Club. Officers visited the area and found that the 
Residents Hall is closer to the main roads and bus stops than is the Youth 
Club. This closer proximity will make it easier for elderly and disabled voters to 
vote. Officers walked down Glasgow Terrace, just off 137 Lupus Street and 
where City West Homes South Area Service Centre is located, and found the 
Residents Hall straight ahead. The big hall in the building is perfectly sized- 
CHA has three polling stations/issuing tables. The only drawback being that 
there are 7 or so steps leading into the big hall. Although there is a wheelchair 
lift-  officers are of the opinion that polling place staff  do not need to make use 
of it- polling staff will immediately be aware of a wheelchair voter at the top of 
the stairs and will be able to take the ballot papers and ballot box to the voter. 

 
15. The Residents Hall is only 3 or so minutes walk (for a non elderly voter), from 

the Youth Club and therefore most of the concerns in respect of not wishing to 
confuse voters through changing their polling place may not arise. It is 
recommended that the polling place for CHA polling district be re-designated 
as Churchill Gardens Residents Hall, Churchill Gardens Estate.  

 
16. It was also suggested that, in terms of CHA polling district provision, officers 

look at the Thamesbank  Centre, Turpentine Lane, SW1V 4BD. Officers 
visited the Centre and could not find any obvious benefits in using it which 
override those benefits provided through the Residents Hall being in such 
close proximity to the Youth Club. The Centre is also closer to the edge of the 
polling district and away from the main concentration of voters. 

 
17. In terms of CHB, and  the want of disabled access at St Barnabas School, a 

suggestion was received  that officers  look at using the small courtyard 
outside the side entrance to St Barnabas Church just for disabled voters who 
cannot gain entry to the main polling place – in order that they are not seen to 
be voting in public when the Presiding Officer takes the ballot boxes and ballot 
papers out to  the voter. Officers have written to the school to find out if this is 
possible and the head teacher has advised that the courtyard does not belong 
to the school- officers will therefore liaise with the churchwardens. A better 
solution and one offered by the head teacher is that the school opens the 
playground gates. There is a ramp in the playground leading to a small lobby 
area that might be helpful in case of rain. The head teacher has advised that 
this area has been used in the past for disabled voters.  As the playground 
door is right next to the main school door, it will probably be easier for the staff 
at the polling station to manage, rather than taking people along the road to 
the Church courtyard. Polling station staff will be instructed accordingly. 

  
6.  Harrow Road 

 
18. All three polling districts in the ward have clear boundaries and well located 

polling places – HRA (Emmanuel Church Hall), HRB (Methodist Church Hall, 
Fernhead Road ) and HRC (St Peter’s Primary School). 
 
 

Page 18



 

19. At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any 
proposals for change. Suggestions were received that HRA polling place be 
changed from Emmanuel Church Hall to Queen Elizabeth School and that 
HRC polling place be changed from St Peter’s Primary School on Elgin 
Avenue to St Peter’s Church. 

 
20. Representation was also received that the current polling places for HRA and 

HRC should be retained as Emmanuel Church (HRA) is prominently located 
on Harrow Road and both the HRA and HRC polling places are very well 
known buildings in their areas.  

 
21. There was also a comment made in respect of HRA Emmanuel Church Hall 

being used and religious sensitivities attached to voting in churches or church 
halls- the comment being that voters did not appear to see this as an issue 
which would prevent them from voting in person at their designated polling 
place.   

 
22. Officers visited Emmanuel Church Hall, 389E Harrow Road which is the 

designated  polling place for HRA. Officers then visited Queen Elizabeth II 
Jubilee School, Kennet Road to ascertain if the suggested alternative could be 
a viable replacement for Emmanuel Church Hall. The Church Hall is well 
positioned in the polling district as it is on Harrow Road which is a well known 
road in the area and the church hall also has good disability access.  

 
23. Queen Elizabeth II Jubilee School is on Kennet Road which is behind Harrow 

Road and it is not clear where the entrance to the school is. This could cause 
access issues and confusion to electors who may not be aware of the school 
or its location. Using a school instead of a church hall would also cause 
disruption to parents and electors if the school were to close. It is 
recommended that Emmanuel Church Hall should remain the polling place for 
HRA.  

 
24. In respect of HRC polling district St Peter’s Primary School is currently used 

as the polling place. In order to reduce disruption to schools other locations 
were sought as alternatives. St Peter’s Church on Elgin Avenue was 
suggested as a possible alternative. The church is geographically central to 
the polling district and offers disability access.  Access could not be gained to 
the church hall as the vicar is currently away- so no firm conclusions could be 
drawn by the end date for this review. Officers will make arrangements to visit 
the church to carry out a site inspection. 
 
7.  Hyde Park 
 

25. The ward currently has two polling districts with long-established polling 
places – HPA (St James and St John School Nursery – previously St James 
and St Michael’s School Nursery ) and HPB (St John’s Parish Hall ). As more 
residential properties are being built in the northern part of the ward within the 
Paddington redevelopment and the electorate increases, there were 
discussions at previous polling district and polling place reviews as to whether 
a justification could be found for a third polling district and a new polling place 

Page 19



 

north of Praed Street. Comments and suggestions of possible polling places 
were invited although it is not proposed to make any changes at this review. 

 
26. At consultation. No suggestions were received and the Returning Officer’s 

initial proposals did not include any proposals for change 
 
8.  Knightsbridge & Belgravia 
 

27. The ward is well-served by three polling districts and polling places – KBA (St 
Paul’s Hall), KBB (Royal Geographical Society) and KBC (St Peter’s Church 
Hall). The Church Hall is on the very edge of the polling district so not ideally 
geographically located, but is a well-known building. St Peter’s School in 
Ebury Street was used at elections before the 2011 Referendum.  

 
28. At consultation. No suggestions were received. The Returning Officer’s initial 

proposals included a proposal that KBC polling place provision be looked at 
on the basis that St Peter’s Church Hall, 119 Eaton Square is on the edge of 
the polling district.  

 
           Officers visited the KBC polling district area and could not find a building 

better suited to being a polling place than the one currently in use.  
 
9.  Lancaster Gate 

 
29. The ward has three polling districts, with two of the three, LGA and LGB 

having long-standing polling places – LGA (St Mathew’s Church ), LGB (St 
James & St John Primary School).  LGC ( Hallfield Primary School, Hallfield 
Estate) replaced  Pickering Hall, Hallfield Estate, at the 2011 review. The first 
two polling places have inadequate disability access, but are currently the best 
locations that have been identified. It is proposed that Hallfield School 
continue to be the polling place for LGC polling district. 
  

30. At consultation. No suggestions for change were received. The Returning 
Officer’s initial proposals included a proposal to look at polling place provision 
in LGA and LGB polling districts on the basis of want of disability access.  
 

31. In respect of LGA polling district, officers visited St Sophia’s Greek Cathedral 
in Moscow Road and found that there were 7/8 steps leading to a hall in the 
basement. 

 
32. Officers also visited the currently designated polling place for LGA polling 

district, St Matthew’s Church and spoke to the reverend. The reverend 
advised that the church would be getting 2 detachable disability ramps for their 
front steps by the end of  2014. 
 

33. In respect of LGB polling district and the currently designated polling place – 
St James and St John Primary School, Craven Terrace- officers were advised 
that there will be development works. The school advised that they are 
envisaging two phases of development. The first phase to be completed by 
January 2015  – and which will involve one of the classrooms which is 

Page 20



 

normally used at elections.  The second phase of development will involve the 
basement of the school and may impact on access arrangements. A start date 
for this second phase of phase is yet to be confirmed, but may be in spring 
2015. As works may be in progress in May 2015, officers have looked into 
contingency planning for an alternative polling place. 
  

34. One of the places visited for contingency planning purposes in LGB polling 
district was the York Hall, in the Lancaster Hall Hotel, 35 Craven Terrace, 
There is a main entrance and an emergency exit into/out of the York Hall. Both 
the access points have disability access and the hall has disabled toilets. 
Officers raised concerns as to how well known the Lancaster Hall Hotel is in 
the area and whether voters will have exclusive access to the polling place. 
Officers will make a provisional booking of York Hall for next year’s General 
Election, which they can cancel nearer the time if the school is proven to be 
ready to house the poll. 
 
10.  Little Venice 
 

35. The ward and polling district boundaries were unchanged in 2002, so electors 
benefit from a long-established pattern of no change. The polling districts are 
LVA (St Joseph’s School), LVB (St Saviour’s School) and LVC (Paddington 
Green Primary School).  Paddington Green Primary School has been used 
since the 2012 London Mayor and GLA election – prior to that St Mary’s 
Church Hall was used.  All three polling places have disability access.  
 

 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any 
proposals for change. 

 
36. A suggestion was received that the Catholic Apostolic Church, Maida Avenue 

be looked as a possible polling place for LVC polling district, instead of 
Paddington Green Primary School, on the basis of not using schools wherever 
possible and the long driveway to the school entrance.  

.  
37. Officers visited the Catholic Apostolic Church and found that the church is not 

too far from the current polling place- approximately a 3-5 minute walk. The 
church is set just back from the street so is clearly visible and has disabled 
access. Officers have spoken with a church representative and discussed 
availability and which areas of the church, if any, may be used. The church 
representative has agreed to discuss the matter at a meeting with church 
trustees, which is scheduled to take place in November. The church has listed 
status. 
 

           11.   Maida Vale 
 

38. The ward and polling district boundaries were similarly unchanged in 2002.  
The polling districts are MVA (Maida Centre) and MVB (Essendine Primary 
School). It has been stated at previous polling district and polling place 
reviews that the ward may benefit from a third polling district and polling place 
if a suitable location could be identified in the south-east part of the ward 
below Elgin Avenue. It is not currently proposed that such a change be made. 

Page 21



 

 
39.     At consultation.    A suggestion was received that, as the Maida Centre (MVA) 

is being redeveloped, consideration should be given to using St George’s 
School in Lanark Road or St Augustine’s Primary School or the Children’s 
Centre next door.  

 
40. In respect of MVB   a suggestion was made that the City of Westminster 

College on Elgin Avenue could be used if building works were completed and 
the College reopened well in advance of the General Election. 

 
41. A further suggestion was received that an extra polling district be created with 

a new polling place, the Portuguese Synagogue on the corner of Ashworth 
Road and Lauderdale Road, being designated. 

 
42. As part of two separate proposals suggestions were also made that the 

Paddington Sports Club on Castellain Road would make a good polling place. 
 
43. In respect of MVA polling district, officers visited the area to ascertain if there 

was a suitable replacement for the Maida Centre.  
 
44. Officers visited the Training House Gym, Westminster Education Support 

Centre and Paddington Youth Club which are next to the Maida Centre. All 
three sites were contained within the same building with various entrances 
which could prove to be confusing to electors even with appropriate signage. 
As such the sites are not suitable to house a polling place.  

 
45. Officers then visited St George’s School, Lanark Road  as was suggested in a 

few of the consultation responses. St George’s School has been used in 
previous years and would be a suitable replacement for the Maida Centre due 
to its location and history as a polling place.  

 
46. St Augustine’s Primary which was also suggested as a possible replacement 

for the Maida Centre is not ideally situated. St Augustine’s Primary is at the 
northern most point of the polling district and would be very inconvenient for 
electors who reside in the south of the polling district.  

 
47. In respect of MVB polling district, officers visited a number of locations to see 

if an alternative polling place could be found. Paddington Sports Club on 
Castellain Road was visited and although in very many respects it provides an 
alternative to using Essendine School there are a number of significant 
disbenefits to its use. Despite its central location within the polling district, the 
entrance to Paddington Sports Club off the street is slightly secluded and may 
cause difficulties for electors. The reception itself is quite a long way from the 
street entrance. Electors would need to pass tennis courts to access the 
polling place and the reception itself is not immediately visible. There is a fear 
that the sports club would be difficult to access for residents. 

.  
48. Officers also visited the Portuguese Synagogue on Lauderdale Road. The 

Portuguese Synagogue is currently in MVA, and borders the polling district 
MVB and would therefore be inconvenient for electors due to its location. It is 

Page 22



 

 not proposed to make any changes to polling district boundaries to 
accommodate the synagogue’s use as a polling place. 

 
49. Officers also visited the Westminster College on Elgin Avenue. Although the 

site is ideally located it is currently a guardianship and there are no clear 
indications when the College will be ready to be inspected by officers.  
 
12.  Marylebone High Street 
 

50. The polling places within the ward are not ideal. MHA (St Vincent’s School) is 
on the edge and not central to the polling district. MHB’s polling place (Central 
Synagogue) has steps and so has no disability access. MHC ( The Hellenic 
Centre ) replaced St Marylebone School as the polling place for this polling 
district at the combined elections on 6 May 2010. It has been suggested at a 
previous review that the Hellenic Centre also be used as the polling place for 
MHA on cost grounds as it is big enough. It is though proposed that separate 
polling places be retained for MHA and MHC so as to minimise disruption and 
confusion for voters. 

 
 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included proposals to 

look at the provision provided in MHA and MHB polling districts on the basis of 
location in the polling district and disability access reasons respectively. 

 
51. A suggestion was received that MHA and MHC could be served from just one 

polling place, at the Hellenic Centre. 
 
52. A further suggestion was received that All Souls Club House could serve as 

the polling place for MHB, albeit that it is on the edge of the ward. 
           
53. In respect of the MHA polling district, officers visited a number of sites- The 

Wigmore Hall (although there are currently no events listed for 7 May 2015 
this may not be the case if a check is made closer to polling day), The Holiday 
Inn in Welbeck Street( exclusivity of access and 6 steps leading into the 
premises),  the School of Economic Science at 11 Mandeville Place ( steps 
and not well enough known and students arriving for classes), and the 
Methodist Church in Hinde Street (7 steps)- none of which were deemed 
suitable for the reasons shown.  

 
54. In respect of the MHB polling district, officers visited the Hallam Conference 

Centre, 44 Hallam Street and found there to be 3 large steps leading into the 
building. The Synagogue is relatively better located being closer to the main 
road and closer to bus stops. All Souls Clubhouse, 141 Cleveland Street has 
good disabled access but is situated at the edge of the polling district on the 
border with LB Camden and its use may therefore cause a great deal of 
confusion amongst voters. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

13.  Queen’s Park 
 

55. This ward benefits from having four polling districts with four relatively newly 
identified and well appointed polling places so no changes were contemplated 
- QPA (St Jude’s Church Hall), QPB ( Beethoven Centre), QPC (New Avenues 
Youth Project) and QPD (St Luke’s Church Hall).  A suggestion has been 
made  at previous reviews that QPD could go to/merge into QPB if numbers of 
polling places are to be reduced. This was not recommended as a change of 
this type would prompt redrawing of all polling district boundaries within this 
ward. 
 

 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any 
proposals for change. 

 
56. A suggestion was received that the number of polling districts in Queen’s Park 

be reduced from four to three. As part of this suggestion it was mooted that in 
QPB polling district the Dorothy Gardner Nursery could be used instead of the 
Beethoven Centre and that in QPC, New Avenues Youth Project in Third 
Avenue could remain as the polling place for the polling district 
 

57. A consultation response was received which expressed a view that the current 
four polling stations in the ward work well and should not be changed and that 
reducing the number of polling places could make it more difficult for some 
people to vote which would be a backward step-and that the four polling 
places in the ward reflect the geography of the ward.. 
 

58. Officers also noted that any changes made to polling districts will also impact 
on arrangements in place for the Queen’s Park Community Council.  Elections 
to the Queen’s Park Community Council on 22 May 2014 were held on the 
basis of three Community Councillors being elected to represent each of four 
Community Council wards- the areas of the Community Council wards being 
the same as the Queen’s Park ward polling districts. 
 
14.  Regent’s Park 
 

59. No change was contemplated for this ward’s three polling districts in terms of 
the polling places used at the 22 May 2014 elections – RPA (Village Club, 
Allitsen Road), RPB (Rudolf Steiner House) or RPC (Liberal Jewish 
Synagogue). Although Rudolf Steiner House is on the edge of the polling 
district it is geographically well located for the bulk of electors within the 
district. The space used as a polling place at Rudolf Steiner House is not ideal 
and as part of this review electoral services staff will seek to identify whether 
an area on the ground floor of Rudolf Steiner can be used in future. (NB  The 
Royal College of Gynaecologists has been used as an RPB polling place at an 
election before 2010). 
 

 At Consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any 
proposals for change.  

 

Page 24



 

60. A suggestion was received that in RPA polling district there should be a 
change to polling place made from The Village Club in Allitsen Road to Barrow 
Hill School on visibility and access grounds. 

 
61. Officers visited the RPA district designated polling place at the Village Club, 

(Behind Swallow House) in Allitsen Road, NW8 7BD and found there to be no 
real issues in terms of visibility and access. The Village Club is immediately 
visible as you enter through an archway on Allitsen Road- with a nursery to 
the left and the Village Club to the right. Although the name plaque on the 
Village Club front wall is somewhat indistinct there will be a polling place sign 
supplied for polling station staff to put up. Further thought needs to be given 
as to where a sign is put up in Allitsen Road. Officers would not wish to use a 
school where a suitable good alternative exists-as it does here. 
 
15.  St James’s 
 

62. This ward has a wide geographical spread so has 4 rather than the average 3 
polling districts to improve accessibility to electors, The polling places for SJA 
(St Clement Danes School) and SJD (Abbey  Centre) polling districts are 
geographically centrally located. The polling places for SJB (Charing Cross 
Library) and SJC ( Methodist Central Hall) are on the margin of their polling 
districts, but nevertheless are close to the main concentration of electors in 
both districts. Charing Cross Library has no disabled access and elections 
staff  have been advised of other issues, including issues attached to 
exclusivity of access. 

 
63.   At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included a strong 

proposal to seek to identify whether an alternative polling place could be found 
to Charing Cross Library in SJB polling district, for disability access and 
exclusivity of access reasons. No suggestions were received at consultation. 

 
64. Officers visited the SJB polling district to look for alternatives to Charing Cross 

Library. Officers walked the area but were not able to find a suitable 
alternative. As was the case at the 2011 polling district and polling place 
review only St Martin’s Crypt ( St Martin- in –the- Fields ), Trafalgar Square 
offered any polling place possibilities. Access via a long spiral staircase would 
in all likelihood dissuade disabled voters from voting and would not permit 
elections staff to put in place alternative arrangements for the assistance of 
voters with disabilities i.e. through the use of door chimes. Other issues   
would include signage, where tellers should sit, and security issues attached 
to non voter visitors. The recommendation is therefore to retain Charing Cross 
Library as the polling place for SJB polling district and to tighten up the access 
arrangements to the library while the poll is in progress. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

16.  Tachbrook 
 
65. All three polling places in the ward are long-standing and centrally located 

within their polling districts – TBA (St Saviour’s Church ); TBB (Westminster 
Cathedral School) and TBC (Lillington Gardens Estate Hall). The Estate Hall is 
located in the middle of the Estate so requires more directional signage for 
residents unfamiliar with its location. 

            
           At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included a proposal to 

look at whether better polling place provision could be found in TBC polling 
district- where Lillington Gardens Estate Hall is used and where signage has 
been an issue at previous elections. 

 
 66.    Officers visited the area and found that there are  many official estate signs 

pointing in the general direction of the Hall and which can all be seen from all 
entrances into the estate (Entrances  are on Moreton Street, Tachbrook Street 
and  Charlwood Street). Although there are signs on the periphery of the 
estate once you walk into the estate, there are many open areas and no 
further signs pointing to the Hall. There is a complex set of walkways and 
open areas that lead from one block of flats to another and it is hard to find the 
Community Hall as it is underneath Morgan House. It is advised that officers 
look into how the signage to the polling place can be improved upon prior to 
the General Election taking place. 

 
67. As alternatives to the current provision in TBC polling district officers visited a 

number of sites. Principal among them was St James the Less Church in 
Moreton Street. Officers spoke to the reverend. The church has 2 halls, one 
on the ground floor and one on the first floor.  Both are currently under 
renovation so  officers  were not able to gain access but were advised that 
each hall holds a capacity of 80 people. The ground floor hall has disabled 
access. Officers were advised that building works would be completed by the 
General Election but there is obviously a concern that  if the building works 
take longer than expected that this will present a real problem in respect of 
election administration and conveying clear messages to voters before the 
election. It is  recommended  therefore that officers look at this Church again 
as a possible polling place for TBC polling district for elections after the 
General Election. 
 
17.  Vincent Square 
 

68. All three polling places are reasonably well located within each of the polling             
districts – VSA (Millbank Academy); VSB (Hide Tower Hall) and VSC (Hinsley 
Room, Morpeth Terrace). 

           
           At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any 
 proposals for change. No suggestions were received at consultation. 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

18.  Warwick 
 

69. The polling place for WAB (Dryburgh Hall) is well located. The other two 
polling places for WAA (Holy Apostles Church Hall) and WAC (Victoria Library) 
are on the edge of their polling districts but are the best available locations 
within the districts.  

 
 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included a proposal to 

look at the polling place provision for WAA and WAC polling districts on the 
basis that the polling places were on the edge of their respective polling 
districts. 

 
 No other suggestions were received. 
   
70. Officers visited the WAA polling district and could not find any suitable 

alternative locations, especially given that the WAA polling place will need 
enough space to house 3 polling stations. Officers also visited the WAC 
polling district and could not find any suitable alternative locations, especially 
given how well known Victoria Library is by residents living in that area. Both 
buildings have very good disabled access 
 
19.  West End 
 

71. This ward is geographically large and so is well served with four polling places.  
WEA (St Anne’s Church Hall) and WEC( Grosvenor Chapel , South Audley 
Street) are adequate.  WEB ( Dance Works, Balderton Street) has inadequate 
disabled access. At the polling district and polling place review in 2011 the 
WED polling place was changed from All Souls School in Foley Street to the 
Fitzrovia Community Centre in Foley Street ( to avoid  closure of the school on 
 polling day and to provide disabled access).  

 
 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals included a proposal to 

look at whether better polling place provision can be found for WEB polling 
district, partly on the basis that Dance Works in Balderton Street does not 
provide disability access. 
 

72. A consultation response was received that the polling place provision in WEB 
polling district was  less than satisfactory and that not only is there the issue of 
disabled access which is non-existent but also the fact that there is a sharing 
of the facility with dance classes throughout the day, entered by the same 
entrances. A suggestion was received that officers should consider the 
following  sites - The Ukrainian Cathedral; The Territorial Army building in 
Davies Street; and whether a room in the new Beaumont Hotel on the ground 
floor would be suitable. A further suggestion was made that there may be an 
opportunity to amalgamate north and south Mayfair into a single venue in or 
around Grosvenor Square.  
 

73. Officers visited the area. The Ukranian Cathedral has 8 large steps. Disabled 
access was also identified as an issue in respect of the Cathedral at previous 
polling district and polling place reviews. 

Page 27



 

74.  In respect of The Territorial Army building in Davies Street it was found that 
the entrance to numbers 52-54 Davies Street has no indication of what the 
building is used for- there is a flag attached to the front of the building but this 
is not sufficient for identification purposes. Number 56 has the inscription 
‘Queen Victoria’s Rifles’. There are steps leading into both entrances-five 
steps into numbers 52-54 and three steps into number 56.  
 

75. In respect of the Beaumont Hotel, officers found that there was no ground floor 
room available. The only room available was the ‘Lotus Room’ which was 
accessed down a flight of stairs. Those voters not able to use  the stairs would 
be required to get to the Lotus room by lift.  Voters would have to walk through 
the hotel reception to get to the stairs leading to the Lotus Room which could 
cause confusion as to who were hotel guests and who were voters. Also in the 
basement there is a hotel gym which could cause issues in terms of security. 
Polling station staff based in the Lotus Room would not be able to see voters 
entering the hotel and would not be in a position to ensure that voters were not 
wandering about into other parts of the hotel. The hotel also had no name 
visible from the street and therefore officers were only able to identify the hotel 
by asking the concierge outside the hotel if they were at the correct address. 
Claridges Hotel, Davies Street was deemed to be too expensive and there 
were all sorts of other considerations around security and exclusivity of 
access. 
 

76. Officers were of the opinion that although  Dance Works in Balderton Street is 
not ideal  that it should continue to be used as a polling place on the basis that 
voters have voted there at recent elections and are used to the arrangements. 
If  better provision can be found between now and the General Election then 
officers will make the necessary changes.  
 
20.  Westbourne 
 

77. This ward was described in the Returning Officer’s initial proposals as being  
relatively  well served with its three polling places – WBA (Warwick 
Community Centre), WBB (Bayswater Childrens Centre) and WBC (The 
Stowe Centre). The Stowe Centre was briefly replaced at a previous election, 
while undergoing refurbishment, by Edward Wilson School.  Suggestions have 
been made at previous polling district and polling place reviews that the 
Westbourne Ward is of a size and shape which does not lend itself to having 
three polling districts and that it should have four polling districts. This has 
raised attendant issues as to where the existing three polling places should 
best be placed within the ward. It is proposed that a fourth polling district 
should not be created as the solution appears to lie in changing ward 
boundaries at the next review of ward boundaries. 

 
 At consultation. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did not include any   

proposals for change. 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

78. At consultation a suggestion was received that the WBA polling place be 
changed to Maida Vale library, Sutherland Avenue and that the WBC polling 
place be changed to St Mary Magdalene's Church, Rowington Close (currently 
located in WBA) 

 
79.  A further suggestion was received that the boundary between the WBA and 

WBC polling districts be changed but in so doing that   the WBB polling district 
boundaries ( and polling place) should remain as they are. As part of this 
suggestion it was suggested that the polling place for WBC polling district 
should become the Warwick Community Centre (which is the currently 
designated polling place for WBA) and that the WAES Amberly Road   building 
should become the polling place for WBA polling district. The benefits of the 
change would include voters on the Brindley and Warwick Estates voting at the 
same polling place- with the Grand Union Canal as the northern boundary- and 
a more even distribution of registered electors across each of the three polling 
districts within the ward. 

 
80. This suggestion to change the WBA and WBC polling district boundaries was 

strongly supported by others. The suggestions made by others also included a 
polling place change proposal for WBA polling place to be the Westminster 
Adult Education Centre, with our Lady of Lourdes & St Vincent de Paul as a 
reserve option –and the WBC polling place to be the Warwick Community 
Centre ( thus changing that Centre from a WBA to WBC polling place). 

 
81. As part of the WBA and WBC polling district change suggestions other 

comments were received in terms of the suitability of other buildings as polling 
places-, Our Lady of Lourdes & St Vincent de Paul on Harrow Road , and 
Maida Vale Library for WBA polling district and St Mary Magdalene's Church 
for WBC polling district 

 
 Officers made the following site inspections in respect of a polling place for  
 
 WBA polling district: 
 
82. Maida Vale Library- The building is geographically located in the north east 

corner of the polling district.  The main entrance has a large flight of stairs 
although disabled access (a lift to the upper floor) is available through another 
entrance on Shirland Avenue. On taking a look inside there is no clearly 
defined area which could be used for polling. Almost all the book shelves are 
bolted to the ground and the surrounding space is too small. Officers did not 
deem the library suitable to be used for voting purposes.  

 
83. Our Lady of Lourdes & St Vincent de Paul Church Hall-The church is situated 

in the very northwest corner of the polling district currently, a 10/12 minute 
walk from Warwick Community Centre. The postal address is 337 Harrow 
Road W9 3RB and the church can be approached from East Gate Western 
Road junction, near Westbourne Park tube station. The hall is on the right 
hand side as the church grounds are entered- the church is straight ahead. 
There is good access into the hall-with just a very small ridge evident upon 
entering the hall. If deemed necessary-although officers believe it will not be 

Page 29



 

necessary- wheelchair users can be directed to the main entrance to the 
church and then right and right again into the voting area. The hall appears 
large enough to accommodate three polling stations. The hall was also 
suggested at the 2011 review as an alternative to the community centre.  

 
84. Westminster Adult Education Service-Currently located in a temporary building 

in Lord Hills Road, the site manager stated that the main building is being 
refurbished and this work will not be completed until January 2015 at the 
earliest.  Another visit would need to be arranged to assess suitability. 
Although the site manager was confident that the place would meet all polling 
place requirements and is keen for officers to visit and inspect next year, it 
was not considered proper to make a firm commitment and designate the 
building as the polling place without first inspecting it after all works are 
complete.  The WAES building is about a two/three minute walk from the 
Harrow Road and clearly visible from the street. It has the potential to be a 
good alternative for the Warwick Community Centre. 

  
           WBC polling district 
 
85. St Mary Magdalene Church-The church is located on the south east side of 

WBA polling district, on the outer edge of a housing estate. If the boundary 
between the two polling districts were changed it would fall within WBC. 
However it is not a suitable replacement as it has a set of large steps leading 
into the entrance with no other disabled access. 

 
86. As part of a more detailed analysis of WBA and WBC polling place provision at 

the elections on 22 May 2014, attached as Appendix F and Appendix G, are 
the polling place reports completed by Presiding Officers on polling day. The 
polling places used on 22 May 2014 were deemed to provide good provision 
by those who worked there. 

 
21.  A whole of Westminster response 
 

87.  A response was received expressing  the view that it appears that it is 
considerably easier for some voters to reach their polling places than others 
with many places positioned on the edge of polling districts and that this has a 
direct impact on demographic fairness. The response further suggested   that 
the decision to locate polling places should be based on the distance that each 
elector needs to travel to, rather than population density, as the number of 
electors in an area can be dealt with by the number of booths and personnel in 
the place- ease of voting being a significant contributor to turnout. 

 
88. The Returning Officer’s initial proposals did seek to identify those polling 

places which are close to the edge of a boundary and make alternative 
provision if more suitable polling places could be found. It was however 
decided that a discrete piece of work should be commissioned to look at this 
suggestion in more detail as the suggestion was an interesting and important 
one which was applicable across all wards.   

   

Page 30



 

89. This work is presented as Appendix H. The work involved applying an average 
walking speed analysis for those voters over the age of 65 to the current 
polling district and polling place provision. There were a number of layers to 
the work which also included incorporating an analysis of % of population over 
the age of 65 from the 2011 census. In order to arrive at a starting point 
officers took the view that not more than 10 minutes walking time to get to a 
polling place was ‘reasonable’( for clarity we have presented an over 15 minute 
analysis.) 

 
90.     From the work it is evident that there are very few pockets around which voters 

aged over 65 will need to walk more than 15 minutes to get to their polling 
place. These pockets are around   St. James’s, Knightsbridge & Belgravia and 
the St John’s Wood area in the far north of the Borough. 

 
91. As a result of this work officers are better placed to understand what provision 

may need  to be made in future and will be better able to incorporate an extra 
layer of consideration into any future review. Using the current analysis- where 
medium and, in Knightsbridge and Belgravia’s case, high levels of persons 
aged over 65 live-  who are over 15 minutes walk from a polling place- it could 
therefore be argued at future reviews that these are the areas where a strong 
case can be made for a change of polling place.  A further step to this analysis 
could be to produce a map of the area’s best locations to locate a new polling 
place. Priority could be given to council owned properties to keep down costs.  

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The cost of using polling places is met from the Government grant in respect 

of UK and European Parliamentary elections and referendums, from the GLA 
in respect of London Mayor and GLA elections and by the City Council for its 
own elections. 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 These are set out in the body of the report. 
 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1      There is an opportunity to review polling district and place provision for 

electors in advance of the General Election on 7 May next year, and the 
Committee is asked to consider the recommendations made in the report. 

 
 

 
If you have any questions about this report, or wish to inspect one of 

the background papers, please contact:  
Martin Pyroyiannos on 020 7641 2732 

 

 
 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

!

!

!

!

WBC

BWA

LVB

LVA

LVC

LGA

LGC

LGB

CSA

CSB

BDC

BDA

MHC

BDB

HPC

HPB

HPA

L A N C A S T E R
G AT E

K N I G H T S B R I D G E
A N D  B E L G R A V I A

B R YA N S T O N
A N D  D O R S E T

S Q U A R E
B AY S WAT E R

W E S T B O U R N E

L I T T L E
V E N I C E

C H U R C H
S T R E E T

Address: St John's
Parish Hall, Hyde
Park Crescent
WC Access: YES

Address: St James's
Church Nursery,
Sussex Gardens
WC Access: YES

Address: St James's
School, Craven Terrace

WC Access: NO

Address: Church Street
Library, Church Street
WC Access: YES

Address: Seymour
Leisure Centre,
Shouldham
Street Entrance
WC Access: YES

Address: West
London Synagogue,
35 Upper Berkeley
Street Entrance
WC Access: YES

Address: Paddington
Green Primary School,
Park Place Villas,
London, W9 2DR
WC Access: YES

Date: November 2014

Map produced by:
 Westminster Corporate GIS Team

Ref: 877

Proposed Polling
Districts

HYDE PARK

Legend
! Polling Stations

Proposed Polling Districts
Other Polling Districts
Westminster Wards
Westminster Boundary

0 125 250 37562.5

Metres

Corporate GIS Team

This product includes mapping data licensed from
Ordnance Survey with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majesty's Stationery  Office. © Crown copyright
and/or database right 2014. All rights reserved. Licence
number LA 100019597

P
age 33



This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

LGA

LGC

LGB

CHB

CHA

WAC

WAB

BDA

SJC

SJB

MHA

WEB

WEC

WEA

KBC

KBB KBA

S T  J A M E S ' S

L A N C A S T E R
G AT E

H Y D E
PA R K

C H U R C H I L L

W E S T  E N D

WA R W I C K

Address: Dryburgh
Hall, Alderney Street

WC Access: YES

Address: Victoria Library,
160 Buckingham Palace Road

WC Access: YES

Address: St James's
Church Nursery,
Sussex Gardens
WC Access: YES

Address:
Royal Geographic Society, Kensington Gore

WC Access: YES

Address: St James's
School, Craven Terrace

WC Access: NO

Address: Dance Centre,
16 Balderton Street
WC Access: NO

Address: Grosvenor
Chapel Meeting Room,
South Audley Street
WC Access: NO

Address: St
Barnabas School,

St Barnabas Street
WC Access: NO

Address: St Peter's
Church Hall,
Eaton Square
WC Access: YES

Address: St
Paul's Hall,

77 Kinnerton Street
WC Access: YES

Date: November 2014

Map produced by:
 Westminster Corporate GIS Team

Ref: 877

Proposed Polling
Districts

KNIGHTSBRIDGE & 
BELGRAVIA

Legend
! Polling Stations

Proposed Polling Districts
Other Polling Districts
Westminster Wards
Westminster Boundary

0 200 400 600100

Metres

Corporate GIS Team

This product includes mapping data licensed from
Ordnance Survey with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majesty's Stationery  Office. © Crown copyright
and/or database right 2014. All rights reserved. Licence
number LA 100019597

P
age 35



This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

!

HRB

HRA

HRC

LVB

LVA

RPC

WBA

ARA

ARB

Address: Essendine Primary School, Essendine
Road
WC Access: YES

Address: St Mark's
Church Hall, Abercorn
Place(Former)
WC Access: YES

Address: St
Georges RC Secondary
School, Lanark Road,
London W9 1RA
WC Access:

Address: St Joseph's
School, Sutherland Aveneue
WC Access: NO

MVB

MVA

MVC

H A R R O W
R O A D

R E G E N T ' S
PA R K

A B B E Y
R O A D

W E S T B O U R N E

L I T T L E
V E N I C E Date: November 2014

Map produced by:
 Westminster Corporate GIS Team

Ref: 877

Proposed Polling
Districts
MAIDA VALE

Legend
! Polling Stations

Westminster Boundary
Proposed Polling Districts
Other Polling Districts
Westminster Wards

0 100 200 30050

Metres

Corporate GIS Team

This product includes mapping data licensed from
Ordnance Survey with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majesty's Stationery  Office. © Crown copyright
and/or database right 2014. All rights reserved. Licence
number LA 100019597

!

Proposed Polling Station
Paddington Sports Centre
Castellain Road, W9 1HQ

P
age 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D- Polling Places of newly constituted polling districts 

 

Hyde Park- 

 

HPA- St James and St Michael’s School Nursery, Sussex Gardens- as is 

HPB- St John’s Parish Hall, Hyde Park Crescent-as is 

HPC- To be identified. 

 

Officer visits 

International Community School – 21 Star Street 

No rooms available on ground floor, classrooms are small and all located in the 

basement – no disabled access. Using one entrance will cause disruption to daily 

business. 

 

Micky Star Community nursery – 61 St Michael’s Street 

Nursery Classrooms on the Ground Floor & Second Floor 

First Floor used by WCC drop in Children’s services 

Disabled access - including lift within the building.   Need to contact manager about 

viewing rooms. Nursery is used Monday to Friday 9am-6pm 

 

Brunei Hall – Private student Halls of residence – 35-43 Norfolk Square 

No disabled access 

Not able to view rooms as manager is away 

 

Norfolk Plaza Hotel – 29-33 Norfolk square 

Disabled access -small detachable ramp for the front steps. There is a lift.  They have 

one very small conference room in the basement.  This room is too small to 

Page 39



accommodate voting- if the lift is not used – voters will find the stairway very narrow and 

quite steep. Using one entrance will cause disruption to daily business. 

 

Notes: 

Praed Street is mainly small cafes shops – all commercial use 

Paddington Basin, North Wharf Road, South Wharf Road, Merchant Square – All new 

developments of office buildings and residential use 

Eastbourne terrace – Office buildings/New developments 

The area has many small hotels – which do not have disabled access or 

halls/conference rooms for hire. 

 

Knightsbridge and Belgravia- 

KBA- St Paul’s Hall,  Kinnerton Street- as is 

KBB-Royal Geographical Society, Kensington Gore- as is 

KBC- St Peter’s Church Hall, Eaton Square- as is 

 

Maida Vale- 

MVA- St George’s School, Lanark Road-as is ( changed from the Maida Centre at this 

review) 

MVB- Essendine Primary School, Essendine Road- as is 

MVC- Paddington Sports Club, Castellain Road ( has disadvantages to its use including 

the distance from the main road to the room to be used for polling ) or Spanish and 

Portuguese Synagogue, Lauderdale Road ( matter to be discussed at an elders meeting 

on 19 November and representatives of the synagogue wish to speak to representatives 

of other synagogues which are used as polling places by Westminster City Council) - 

new polling place.   

 

 

Page 40



Polling District Current Electorate

Approximate number of 

electors affected

Proposed new electorate 

(approximately)

HPA 2858 958 1900

HPB 4765 1765 3000

HPC 2700

Polling District Street Polling District Street

HPA Brewers Court, 20 Bishops Bridge Road* HPB 5 Harbet Road

HPA Chilworth House, Chilworth Mews HPB Bouverie Place

HPA Chilworth Mews HPB Edgware Road*

HPA Cleveland Terrace* HPB Harrow Road

HPA Craven Road* HPB Junction Mews

HPA Eastbourne Mews HPB Junction Place

HPA Gloucester Mews HPB London Mews

HPA Gloucester Terrace* HPB London Street*

HPA London Street* HPB Montgomery House, 135 Harrow Road

HPA Westbourne Terrace* HPB Munkenbeck Building, 5 Hermitage Street

HPB Norfolk Place

HPB Norfolk Square

HPB Norfolk Square Mews

HPB North Wharf Road

HPB Praed Mews

HPB Praed Streete

HPB Sale Place

HPB Southwick Mews

Key HPB Southwick Street*

* - street will be partially split between existing polling district and new polling district HPB St Michael's Street

HPB Star Street

HPB Sussex Gardens*

HPB Westcliffe Apartments, 1 South Wharf Road

Hyde Park

List of Streets affected in proposed change (HPA and HPB to HPC)

P
age 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Polling District Current Electorate

Approximate number of 

electors affected

Proposed new 

electorate 

(approximately)

KBA 756 1600

KBB 3343 1143 2200

KBC 1951

KBB Albert Gate KBB Park Lodge, Park Close

KBB Albert Gate KBB Park Mansions, 141-149 Knightsbridge

KBB Albert Gate Court, 124 Knightsbridge KBB Peninsula Twr Hyde Pk Brrks, Knightsbridge

KBB Albert Gate Court, 124 Knightsbridge KBB Prince's Court, 88 Brompton Road

KBB Brompton Road KBB Relton Mews

KBB Cheval House, 30 Montpelier Walk KBB Rutland Court, Rutland Gardens

KBB Cheval Place KBB Rutland Gardens

KBB Fairholt Street KBB Rutland Gardens Mews

KBB Hyde Park Barracks, Knightsbridge KBB Rutland Street

KBB Kent Yard KBB South Lodge, 245 Knightsbridge

KBB Knightsbridge KBB Sterling Street

KBB Knightsbridge Green KBB The Knightbridge Apartments, 199 Knightsbridge

KBB Lancelot Place KBB Trevor Place

KBB Montpelier Mews KBB Trevor Square

KBB Montpelier Place KBB Trevor Street

KBB Montpelier Square KBB Trevor Walk

KBB Montpelier Street KBB Waterloo Hse Hyde Pk Brrks, Knightsbridge

KBB Montpelier Terrace KBB Wellington Court, 116 Knightsbridge

KBB Montpelier Walk* Key

KBB Park Close * - street will be partially split between existing polling district and redefined polling district

Knightsbridge & Belgravia

List of Streets affected in proposed change (from KBB to KBA)

P
age 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Polling District Current Electorate

Approximate number of 

electors affected

Proposed new 

electorate 

(approximately)

MVA 3504 1004 2500

MVB 3722 1122 2600

MVC 1800

Current Polling 

District Street

Current Polling 

District Street

MVA Hamilton Court, 149, Maida Vale MVB Elgin Avenue*

MVA Atholl House, 125, Maida Vale MVB Ashworth Road

MVA Braemar House, 135, Maida Vale MVB Biddulph Road

MVA Dundee House, 145, Maida Vale MVB Biddulph Mansions, Biddulph Road

MVA Elgin Avenue* MVB Lauderdale Road

MVA Elgin Mews South MVB Lauderdale Mansions, Lauderdale Road

MVA Lanark Mews MVB Castellain Road

MVA Lanark Road* MVB Castellain Mansions, Castellain Road

MVA Randolph Avenue*

MVA Ashworth Road

Key

* - street will be partially split between existing polling district and new polling district

Maida Vale 

List of Streets affected in proposed change (MVA and MVB to MVC)

P
age 45



This page is intentionally left blank



CASTLEREAGH

YORK STREET

SEYMOUR PLACE

SHILLIBEER

CRAWFORD STREET

SHOULDHAM STREET

NUTFORD Pl
HARROWBY STREET

CONNAUGHT STREET

EDGWARE ROAD

FREDERICK Cl

FORSET STREET

LEINSTER MEWS

PORCHESTER TERRACE
LEINSTER TERRACE

QUEENSBOROUGH TERRACE

LANCASTER GATE

BAYSWATER ROAD

WEST CARRIAGE DRIVE

BLOMFIELD ROAD

HARROW Rd

LITTLE VENICE

BISHOP'S BRIDGE ROAD

TERRACE Ms

WESTBOURNE

GLOUCESTER Ms.WEST

CLEVELAND

SQUARE

CLEVELAND SQUARE

CLEVELAND TERRACE

CRAVEN HILL Gds

CRAVEN HILL Gds

CRAVEN HILL Gds

BL
OM

FIE
LD

 VI
LL

AS
DE

LA
ME

RE
WE

ST
BO

UR
NE

 Te
r.R

d

PORCHESTER TERRACE

QUEENSBOROUGH Ms

PASSAGE

FULTON
Ms

TENNIEL CLOSE

QUEENSBR'

LEINSTER GARDENS

CRAVEN

GdsHILL

QUEEN'S

GARDENS

Pl

LEINSTER GdsLEINSTER

PORCHESTER

CLEVELAND

SQUARE

GARDENSCLEVELAND

PORCHESTER

WESTBOURNE TERRACE

ORSETT TerGLOUCESTER Ter

GLOUCESTER Gds
ORSETT Ter

St

CL
IFT

ON
 VI

LL
AS

WARWICK PLACE

WARWICK Cres

BURNE

NEWCASTLE Pl

EDGWARE Rd

PADDINGTON
St.MARY'S Sq

HARROW ROAD PORTEUS ROAD

SUSSEX GARDENS

PRAED Ms

SOUTH WHARF ROAD
PADDINGTON BASIN

CLIF
TON Pl

SUSSEX
SQUARE

NORFOLK Sq.M
s

HYDE PARKSTANHOPE TERRACE

LONDON STREET

NORFOLK

LONDON Ms

CHILW
ORTH STREET

WESTBOURNE TERRACE

PADDINGTON STATION

EASTBOURNE Ter

CRAVEN  Rd

CHILWORTH MEWS

WESTBOURNE TERRACE

WESTBOURNEGLOUCESTER TERRACE

CRAVEN Rd
GARDENS

DEVONSHIRE Ter

SMALLBROOK

GATE
LANCASTER

CRAVEN HILLCRAVEN HILL
Ms

MEWS
LANCASTER

CRAVEN TERRACE

LANCASTER GATE

BROOK Ms.NORTH

Ms

GLOUCESTER MEWS

UPBROOK Ms

GLOUCESTER TERRACE

QUEEN'S

SUSSEX Gds
BATHURST MEWS

SU
SS

EX
 G

ds

WESTBOURNE STREETLA
NC

AS
TE

R 
Te

r

Ms

ELMS Ms

CERNEY

CRESCENT

Ms.WEST
SUSSEX

BAYSWATER ROAD

BATHURST St

CONDUIT Pl

SPRING STREET
Conduit Psg

CONDUIT MEWS

SQUARE
TALBOT

SQUARE

WESTWAY (elevated road)

EASTBOURNE TERRACE

EASTBOURNE MEWS

CANAL

BISHOP'S BRIDGE ROAD
HARROW Rd

STREET
WINSLAND

PRAED STREET

WINSLAND Ms

NORTH WHARF ROAD

HERMITAGESt
DUDLEY

St

GREEN

PARK WEST PLACESQUARE

Ms

CRESCENT

HYDE PARK

CLARENDON

CLARENDON

BAYSWATER ROAD

SUSSEX

SUSSEX PLACE STRATHEARN Pl

HYDE PARK GARDENSHYDE PARK GARDENS MEWS

NORTH CARRIAGE

BROOK StGds

Ms.EAST

CLARENDON PLACE

DRIVE

RADNOR PLACE

GLOUCESTER SQUARE

GLOUCESTER SQUARERADNOR MEWS

SOUTHWICK

HYDE PARK
SQUARE

HYDE Pk.Sq.Ms

CresSOMERS

Pl

CONNAUGHT
ALBION STREET

HYDE PARK STREET

ALBION Ms

ALBION Cl

Cl

Cl

PORCHESTER Pl

CONNAUGHT STREET

TITCHBORNE

SOUTHWICK
Yd Rw

SQUAREOXFORD

ARCHERY Cl
SQUARE

PORTSEAKENDAL S
TREETW.GARDEN Pl

MEWS

PORTSEA Pl

SUSSEX GARDENS

SALE PLACE

JUNCTION Ms

CAMBRIDGE

STAR STREET

ST MICHAEL'S STREET

SOUTHWICK STREET

BOUVERIE

STAR STREET

PlNORFOLK PLACE

SOUTHWICK
Ms

JUNCTION Pl SALE PLACE

MARYLEBONE FLYOVER

HARBET ROAD

PRAED STREET

EDGWARE ROAD

CATO STREET

CRAW
FO

RD PLACEMOLYNEUX STREET

BURWOOD

CRESCENT
NORFOLK

EDGWARE ROAD
Pl

BRENDON STREET

WATS
ON'S

RO
AD

TRANSEPT St

OLD
 MARYL

EBO
NE

CABBELL St

CHAPEL STREET

HOMER

HOMER STREET

Ms

ROW

HARCOURT St

Pl

HOWLEY PLACEMAIDA AVENUE

CHURCH STR
EET

PENFOLD PLACE
BROADLEY STREET

St.ALBAN'SMs

Miles Pl

St

BELL STREET

CORLETTSt MARYLEBONE ROADHARROW

St

HARROW
St

HIGHWORTH
St

WALMER
ENFORD STREET

GREAT CUMBERLAND PLACE

Ms

ST
RE

ET

WYTHBURN Pl

UPPER BERKELEY STREET

ST
OU

RC
LIF

FE

BRYANSTON STREET

MARBLE ARCH

CUMBERLAND GATE

CONNAUGHT

EDGWARE ROAD

STANHOPE Pl

PLACE

NORTH CARRIAGE DRIVE

BAYSWATER ROAD WAY
TYBURN

CONNAUGHT

SEYMOUR PLACE
CUMBERLAND
GREATMs

SEYMOUR STREET

Ms
QUEBEC

CRAWFORD STREET

MONTAGU PLACE

GEORGE STREET

Ms.SthMONTAGU

MONTAGU SQUARE
MONTAGU SQUARE

BRUNSWICK

MONTAGU

BRYANSTON MEWS EAST

BRYANSTON SQUARE

BRYANSTON MEWS WEST
BRYANSTON SQUARE

BROWN STREET

STREET

SEYMOUR PLACE

GEORGE STREET

MEWSCLENSTON

WYNDHAM
WYNDHAM

BRYANSTON PLACE
YdWYNDHAM

Pl
PlTARRANT

VIRGIL

Pl

Pl

PLACE Ms.Nth

WYNDHAM Ms

CRAWFORD
Ms

DURWESTON

STREET

GLOUCESTER PLACE MEWS

MONTAGU St

DORSET STREET

GLOUCESTER PLACE
Ms

Ms

StWALMER

CIRCUS

COUNCIL
HOUSE

PLACE

SALISBURY Pl

THORNTON

BICKENHALL St

YORK STREET

HPB
HPA

St James's Church Nursery,
Sussex Gardens

St John's Parish Hall,
Hyde Park Crescent

Date: August 2007 / Map Reference: 2547

Map produced by Corporate GIS Team
For reprints or enquiries contact
Simon Gaule ext. 2994

Corporate GIS Team
020 7641 2350

This product includes mapping data licensed from Ordnance 
Survey with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's 
Stationery Office. © Crown copyright and/or database right 2007.
All rights reserved.  Licence number LA 100019597

0 90 18045 Meters

Hyde Park Ward

Polling Stations 
Wheel chair Acccess

NO
YES
Polling Districts 
Ward Boundary
Westminster boundary

P
age 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



ROAD

BOROUGH OF BRENT

FORDINGLEY ROAD

CROXLEY ROAD

SHIRLAND MEWSLYDFORD ROAD

SHIRLAND ROAD

ASHMORE ROAD

FERNHEAD ROAD

PORTNALL Rd

BRAVINGTON Rd

MACROOM

ERRINGTON

JA
MES

AS
HM

OR
E 

RO
AD

KENNET Rd

Cl

CO
LL

INS

Gt.W
ESTERN Rd

HARROW ROAD

Rd

Rd
PO

RT
NA

LL
 R

OA
D

BR
AV

IN
GT

ON
 R

OA
D

BR
AV

IN
GT

ON
BR

AV
IN

GT
ON

 R
OA

D
Pl

CO
OM

AS
SI

E

St

FERNHEAD ROADAS
HM

OR
E 

RO
AD

PO
RT

NA
LL

 R
OA

D

RIVERTON

DRAYFORDCl

Cl
PORTGATE

Cl
LAPFORD

Cl

WARLOCK ROAD
BARNSDALE Rd

SHIRLAND ROAD

ASHMORE ROAD

MARBAN ROAD

PORTNALL ROAD

SALTRAM CRESCENT

FERNHEAD ROAD

DENHOLME RdBRADISTON

Rd

CARLTON VALE

ELM TREE ROAD

ELGIN

KIL
BU

RN
 PA

RK
 RO

AD

RANDOLPH ROAD

RANDOLPH AVENUE

GRANTULLY ROAD

DELAWARE ROAD
THORNGATE

ELGIN AVENUE SHIRLAND ROAD

BURLINGTON CLOSE
OAKINGTON ROAD

EDBROOKE ROAD
GOLDNEY ROAD

SURRENDALE

Rd SEVINGTON St

BY
RO

N M
s

SHIRLAND ROAD

CH
IPP

EN
HA

M 
RO

AD

AB
INGER

 Ms

WARLOCK Rd

WALT
ER

TO
N ROAD

LANHILL ROAD

Rd

GRITTLETON

SALTRAM CRESCENT KIL
BU

RN
 PA

RK
 RO

AD

BO
RO

UG
H O

F B
RE

NT

WYMERING ROADWIDLEY ROAD

ELGIN AVENUE

ES
SE

ND
INE

 RO
AD

MORSHEAD ROAD

RA
ND

OL
PH

 C
res

WA
RR

IN
GT

ON
 C

res

PINDOCK MEWS

CASTELLAIN ROAD

SHIRLAND ROAD

ELNATHAN MEWS

WARWICK AVENUE

ASHWORTH ROAD

SUTHERLAND AVENUE

LAUDERDALE ROAD

CASTELLAIN ROAD

ELGIN AVENUEBIDDULPH ROAD

LAUDERDALE ROAD

LANARK ROAD

RANDOLPH AVENUE

Ms.Sth

SUTHERLAND Av

MAIDA VALE VALE
CLOSE

ABERDEEN PLACELANARK Pl
CLARENDON

TERRACE
MAIDA VALE

BROWNING

RANDOLPH AVENUE

ELIZABETH
Cl

ROBERT
Cl

Cl EDGWARE ROAD

NORTHWICK Ter

HAMILTON Cl

MELINA PLACE

St.JO
HN'S WOOD ROAD

HAMILTON TERRACE

CLIFTON ROAD

LANARK ROAD
MAIDA VALE

HALL ROAD

DENNING Cl

GATEHALL

SCOTT ELLIS Gds

CARLTON HILL

VIOLET HILL
ABERCORN Cl

HAMILTON TERRACE

ABBEY GARDENS

KILBURN HIGH Rd

KILBURN PARK ROAD

RANDOLPH GARDENS

KIL
BU

RN
 Pk

.Rd

RUDOLPH Rd

OX
FO

RD
 RO

AD

BO
RO

UG
H O

F B
RE

NT

MAPLE
Ms

HIL
LS

ID
E

ELGIN
MAIDA VALE

Ms.Nth

RANDOLPH AVENUE
LANARK ROAD

MAIDA VALE

CARLTON VALE

ANDOVER PLACE

Cl

CARLTON HILL

ABERCORN PLACE

ELGIN AVENUE

HAMILTON TERRACE

THE LANE

PlAUBREYMARLBOROUGH PLACE

CLIFTON HILL

GREVILLE ROAD

BO
UN

DA
RY

 RO
AD

GR
EV

ILL
E P

l

BO
ROUGH OF C

AMDEN

GR
EV

ILL
E P

LA
CE

BELGRAVE GARDENS

CARLTON HILL

RYDER'S TERRACE

BLENHEIM TERRACE

BLENHEIM PASSAGE

LOUDOUN ROAD

LANGFORD PLACE
ABBEY ROAD

WAVERLEY PLACE

GROVE END ROAD

ABBEY ROAD

NUGENT Ter

HILL R
OAD

HAMILTON

GARDENSSQUAREALMA

HALL ROAD

GARDEN Rd

ABERCORN PLACE

REGENTS

MEWS

CIRCUS Rd

GRO
VE

 EN
D

LOUDOUN RdBLENHEIM ROAD

MARLBOROUGH Pl
CloseLANGFORDCl

The

FINCHLEY

Maida Centre,
Lanark Road

Essendine Primary School,
Essendine Road

MVA

MVB

Date: August 2007 / Map Reference: 2551

Map produced by Corporate GIS Team
For reprints or enquiries contact
Simon Gaule ext. 2994

Corporate GIS Team
020 7641 2350

This product includes mapping data licensed from Ordnance 
Survey with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's 
Stationery Office. © Crown copyright and/or database right 2007.
All rights reserved.  Licence number LA 100019597

0 70 14035 Meters

Maida Vale Ward

Polling Stations 
Wheel chair Acccess

NO
YES
Polling Districts 
Ward Boundary
Westminster boundary

P
age 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Polling District and Polling Place Review
	Rpt Re Review of Polling Districts
	Appendix A _NewPollingDist_HydePark_V2
	Appendix B_NewPollingDist_KnightsBridge&BelGravia_V2
	Appendix C_NewPollingDist_MaidaVale_V2
	Appendix D polling places for new polling districts
	Appendix E Hyde Park electorate and street changes
	Appendix F  Knightsbridge and Belgravia electorate and street changes (1)
	Appendix G Maida Vale electorate and street changes (2)
	Appendix H Hyde Park current ward boundaries
	Appendix I Knightsbridge & Belgravia current ward boundaries
	Appendix J Maida Vale  current ward boundariespdf


